
PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING

5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 15TH NOVEMBER, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 
Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

OPEN SESSION

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991

3. P/17/0276 - Bontnewydd Hotel, High Street, 
Trelewis, Treharris, CF46 6AB 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 1 - 12

4. P/17/0283 - Land Adjoining (south Of) Delacey 
Builders, Goat Mill Road, Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil, 
CF48 3TD 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 13 - 22

Information Reports

5. P/16/0367 - Appeal Received 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 23 - 24

6. P/17/0004 - Appeal Received 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 25 - 26

7. P/17/0172 - Appeal Received 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 27 - 28

8. P/17/0211 - Appeal Received 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 29 - 30



9. Delegated Report 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 31 - 38

10. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor  C Tovey (Chair) 

Councillors:  J Amos, H Barrett, D Chaplin, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, J Thomas 
and S Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Caroline Pulley 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 15th November 2017 

 
 
 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/17/0276 22nd September 2017 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Conversion of former 
Bontnewydd Hotel to 9 self 
contained flats with associated 
external works and car parking 
provision 

Bontnewydd Hotel 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AB 
 

Sheargold Properties Ltd  
c/o CDS (Newbridge) Ltd 
F.a.o. Mr J Payne 
Cwmffynnon CottageTwyn 
College 
Newbridge  
Gwent    

 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



APPLICATION SITE 
 
Councillor Colbran and Councillor Jago have requested this application be reported 
to committee in order to consider the concerns of local residents.   
 
Bontynewydd Hotel is a detached, three-storey building (with a lower ground 
basement) set within the built up area of Trelewis.  It forms a key building on the 
junction of High Street and a short side street which leads to Bontynewydd Terrace 
to the west.  It is bound by a takeaway premise to the north, a small residential 
development site to the west and the highway to the north-east and south-east.  
Opposite the site are rows of traditional terraced houses.  There is a bus layby along 
the area of highway at the front of the site which restricts on-street parking in this 
location.  The corner of the junction is also restricted by double yellow lines.  The 
surrounding area is predominantly residential in nature although there is a primary 
school and a small number of commercial properties within the immediate vicinity.  
The site is also located in close proximity to Taff Bargoed Millenium Park.   
 
The building is located within the defined settlement boundary and is locally listed.  
The property has not been occupied since February 2015.   
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the conversion of the former Bontnewydd 
Hotel, situated on High Street, to form 9 self-contained flats.   
 
The conversion would be undertaken within the fabric of the existing building, with no 
increase to its footprint.   The flats would be accommodated across the ground, first 
and second floor levels of the building.   The basement area would provide storage 
facilities alongside an electric meter room and a laundrette facility.  In summary, the 
proposal would provide 7 one bedroom flats and 2, two bedroom flats (3 flats on 
each floor).  The original proposal put forward as part of this application also 
included a caretaker’s room and a staff area.  However, these rooms have been now 
omitted from the scheme.    
 
The proposal also involves the re-instatement of existing door and window openings 
and the removal of the external rear staircase.  However, the existing fenestration 
pattern would mostly be retained.  The primary access to the flats would be served 
off High Street via the main entrance door.   
 
A total of 6 off-street parking spaces are proposed, 5 of which would be provided 
within the yard area at the rear of the building.  The remaining space would be 
provided by creating an under-croft arrangement within the existing two-storey rear 
annexe.  Eight cycle spaces are also proposed along the north-eastern side 
elevation of the building.   
 
The application is accompanied by the following: 
 

 A Bat Survey 

 A Design and Access Statement  
 

Page 2



PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There is no planning history relevant to the determination of this application. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader:    No objection. 
 
Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation Officer:  No objection.   
 
Planning Division’s Design, Heritage     No objection.   
& Conservation Officer: 
 
Planning Division’s Countryside Officer:     No objection.  
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW):     Raises no objection,  

but notes that a bat 
licence would need to 
be obtained from NRW.   

 
Welsh Water:       No objection.   
 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties and two 
site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the building.   
 
167 letters of objection have been received.  The main objections and issues raised 
are summarised as follows: 
 

 Concerns regarding the proposed use and that the building would be used as 
a ‘halfway house’.  The clientele that such uses could attract would have a 
detrimental effect on the residents of Trelewis.  

 The proposed conversion of the building to flats is not suitable for the 
community. 

 Questions are raised as to why the proposal includes a warden’s room and 
staff area and why this area has not been used to increase the number of 
units available within the property; the concern being that this has been done 
purposefully by the developer to avoid disclosing the true use of the building. 

 Lack of consultation undertaken with residents. 

 The proposal would exacerbate parking and highway safety in an already 
busy locality which is in close proximity to a local primary school. 

 The provision of only 6 parking spaces is inadequate for 9 flats and the 
proposal would place great pressure on the very limited amount of on-street 
parking available in the area.   

 The amount of parking being proposed does not correspond with the amount 
of parking being provided for three new dwellings which are currently being 
constructed to the rear of the application site.   

Page 3



 Concern that the increase in traffic and congestion would present safety 
issues for school children in the area.  

 Concern that there is not enough room within the site to provide adequate 
access and parking. Further concerns are also raised in relation to the safety 
risks associated with the access of the proposed bicycle parking as users will 
need to cross the public highway.  

 Noise and disturbance to local residents as a result of vehicles reversing and 
manoeuvring in and out of the proposed car parking spaces.   

 Concern that the proposal would lead to additional refuse bins and recycling 
boxes/bags being placed on the pavement, which would form a hazardous 
obstruction to pedestrians.  The location of the bin storage next to a food 
premises raises further environmental concerns.  

 It is noted that the external fire escape is to be removed which raises concern 
that the proposal would not comply with building and fire safety regulations. 

 Concern that the existing drainage system does not have sufficient capacity 
for a development of this size. 

 The windows in Bontnewydd Hotel overlook a large number of bedrooms in 
the area.  

 The proposal will not comply with the Equality Act 2010, the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act and the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s 
Well-Being Plan.   

 
Two letters of support have also been received stating: 
 

 The hotel has been empty for a number of years and the proposal to convert it 
to flats is a good idea as it will benefit the local community with affordable 
much needed housing. 

 The building will not be left empty and will not be occupied by squatters.  

 Adequate parking is being provided and there is ample off street parking 
locally at the rear of High Street and within the park which are all within a 1-2 
minute walk.  

 Parking is to be provided whereas no housing in High Street has parking.  

 Storage will be provided for refuse and recycling. 

 The hotel is in much need of having renovation to make the building look 
more pleasing. 

 The proposal will stop vandalism, rats and anti-social behaviour.   

 Increase of local housing value.  

 There are talks of the primary school being moved to an alternative location 
which will make all parking and congestion issues void. A zig-zag pedestrian 
crossing is also in place for the safety of pedestrians.  

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) – Edition 9, November 2016 
 
Para. 9.1.1 states that in terms of new housing developments, the Welsh 
Government will seek to ensure that: 

Page 4



 

 Previously developed land is used in preference to greenfield sites; 

 New housing and residential environments are well designed, meeting 
national standards for the sustainability of new homes and making a 
significant contribution to promoting community regeneration and improving 
the quality of life; and that  

 The overall result of new housing development in villages, towns or edge of 
settlement is a mix of affordable and market housing that retains and, where 
practical, enhances important landscape and wildlife features in the 
development.  

 
Other relevant policy guidance consulted:  
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 2 – Planning and Affordable Housing; 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12 – Design; 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18 – Transport; 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23 – Economic Development  
 
Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 
Policy BW2 – Development Strategy – Secondary Growth Area 
Policy BW4 – Settlement boundaries/locational constraints 
Policy BW7 – Sustainable design and placemaking 
Policy BW8 – Development and the water environment  
Policy BW12 – Development proposals and transport 
Policy BW15 – Community facilities 
Policy BW17 – Securing community infrastructure benefits 
Policy AS22 – Affordable housing contributions  
Policy TB11 – Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)  
 
Note 1 – Affordable Housing (March 2012) 
Note 2 – Planning Obligations (March 2012) 
Note 4 – Sustainable Design (July 2013) 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the conversion of Bontnewydd Hotel, situated 
on High Street, to form independent residential units.  The scheme seeks to provide 
9 flats, ranging from single to two bedroom units, within the fabric of the existing 
building.  The key considerations in the determination of this application are the 
potential impact of the development upon the character and appearance of the 
existing building and the surrounding area, and the potential impacts upon the 
privacy and amenity of neighbouring properties.  The impact upon highway safety is 
a further consideration. These matters are discussed in detail below.  
 
 

Page 5



Principle of the proposed conversion  
 
The scheme seeks to provide 9 residential units, arranged over three floors, with 
communal laundry facilities in the basement.  The building itself is located within 
settlement limits and within reasonable distance of the retail centre of Treharris and 
within walking distance of a number of local amenities and facilities within the 
surrounding built up area of Trelewis.  The application site is also located on High 
Street which is a main bus route. Further to this, the proposal would result in the 
positive re-use of a vacant building which is in need of sympathetic restoration.  The 
re-use and conversion of existing buildings in sustainable locations such as this often 
assist in the regeneration of the area whilst at the same time, relieve pressure for 
development on greenfield sites.  In this instance, the proposed residential use of the 
building is considered compatible with surrounding land uses and is an acceptable 
form of development which accords with Policies BW2 and BW4 of the LDP.   
 
Having assessed the proposed layout for the building and the amount of space 
available for each unit, it is also considered that the scheme represents an 
appropriate division and use of the space and does not represent over development 
of the site.  While is it recognised that the proposed conversion would result in the 
loss of a community facility, the Council’s records indicate that the public house has 
been vacant since February 2015.  The Design and Access Statement 
accompanying this application also provides further evidence to show that the 
property has been appropriately marketed as a public house either to let or for sale 
since it was left vacant early in 2015.   However, despite the efforts to market the 
premise, there was a lack of interest.  As such, the owner at the time decided to sell 
the premise at auction in March 2017.   
 
Policy BW15 of the LDP states that the: 
 
‘The Council will protect and support the enhancement of the County Borough’s 
community facilities, including schools, libraries, health centres, post offices, public 
halls, public houses…and proposals that would result in the loss of an existing 
community facility will only be permitted where alternative provision of at least 
equivalent value to the local community can be provided nearby, or; it can be 
demonstrated that existing provision is inappropriate or surplus to the needs of the 
community and is no longer required, or; it can be demonstrated that there is no 
longer a viable community use for the facility’.     
 
In this respect, it is considered that the lack of interest in using the premise as a 
public house over the length of time stipulated above, demonstrates that this public 
house is surplus to the needs of the community.   As such, it is considered that the 
proposal is in compliance with the requirements of Policy BW15 of the LDP.   
 
Character and appearance of the area 
 
As detailed earlier in this report, Bontnewydd Hotel is locally listed and this local 
designation favours the retention of the building rather than its demolition.  In order 
to convert and subdivide the building, it is necessary to carry out minor alterations to 
the fabric of the building, although the majority of these alterations would be 
undertaken to the less prominent rear and side elevations.  The majority of the works 

Page 6



being proposed would be contained within the interior of the property.   Importantly, 
the proposal involves no significant external changes to the key front elevation of the 
building.  The historic and visually distinctive frontage of the building that positively 
contributes to the townscape would therefore be retained in its current form to the 
benefit of the visual amenity of the street scene.  It is also noted that the existing 
pattern of fenestration would be retained and utilised with only limited additional 
openings being proposed, mainly through the reinstatement of openings at the rear 
of the building.   
 
Therefore, given the limited nature of the external works proposed, the vast majority 
of the original character of the building would be retained, with the external 
appearance of the property remaining largely unaltered by the proposed conversion.  
The Council’s Design, Heritage and Conservation Officer has assessed the proposal 
and has also raised no objection to the scheme noting that the building has a 
positive contribution to the character of the area and the re-use of the building is 
welcomed.  While residents have raised safety concerns over the removal of the 
external rear fire escape, it is considered that the removal of this feature and the re-
opening of concealed windows would represent a positive improvement to the 
appearance of this building.  The fire safety aspects of the development would need 
to be fully assessed under Building Regulations.  
 
In summary, it is therefore considered that the proposed re-use of the building for 
residential purposes would have a positive impact on the character and appearance 
of the locality and thus accords with Policy BW7 of the LDP.    
 
Residential amenity 
 
With regard to the impact on neighbouring amenity, concerns have been expressed 
regarding the building overlooking a number of bedrooms and that the development 
of the rear parking area would give rise to a level of noise and disturbance.  It is not 
considered that the re-use of the building for residential purposes would unduly 
compromise the amenities of nearby residents.  It is noted that the site has 
historically traded as a public house and would have operated into the late evening 
and potentially resulted in a degree of noise and disturbance being experienced by 
local residents when patrons entered and left the public house premise.  In 
comparison to the previous use, it is therefore considered the proposed residential 
use would be more compatible with neighbouring residential uses.   
 
It is acknowledged that the building forms a significant feature in the street scene 
and a number of the window openings, serving the front of the building in particular, 
are situated within close proximity and direct sight of the front elevations of 
neighbouring residential properties (situated on the eastern side of High Street). 
However, the distance between the properties is considered to be sufficient to 
ensure that there is no unacceptable loss of privacy and the relationship is reflective 
of the terraced streets surrounding the site.   
 
While some concern is raised in relation to the potential disturbance that may arise 
as a result of vehicle movements to and from the proposed rear parking area, it is 
not considered that the level of activity would be so significant to give rise to an 
unacceptable level of noise or disturbance.  Comments that have been raised by 

Page 7



residents in relation to such matters as the likely occupiers of the building and the 
negative impact such uses could generally have on the community are all 
acknowledged.  However, the occupiers of the flats is not a matter that can be 
controlled by planning legislation and as such is not a material planning 
consideration. Notwithstanding this, the agent has confirmed that the building would 
not be used as a ‘half-way house’ and that the flats would be sold privately.   
 
As detailed previously, there are no major external alterations being proposed to the 
form and scale of the building and arguably the use of it for residential purposes 
represents the most compatible and viable option for the building that would be least 
disruptive to surrounding residential properties.  As such, the proposal accords with 
Policy BW7 of the LDP.  
 
Highway safety 
 
A number of concerns have been expressed, fearing that the proposed use would 
exacerbate parking problems in the area.  In order to aid in the assessment of the 
scheme, consultation has been undertaken with the Council’s Engineering and 
Traffic Group Leader.  In this respect, it is noted that no highway objections have 
been raised to the proposal.  In arriving at this conclusion, careful consideration has 
been given to the key issues that affect this proposal including the existing 
established use and access, parking, proximity to local amenities and cycle parking.  
 
In terms of off-street parking and traffic movements, it is considered that the existing 
use would have a greater demand for parking and certainly result in more (and larger 
vehicular) traffic movements than the proposed use.  Notwithstanding this, the 
presence of traffic regulations orders to the front of the site and partially to the side 
(next to the junction) would prevent on street parking in these locations.  The 
application site is also in a sustainable location where many day-to-day facilities can 
be accessed on foot, by bicycle or by using public transport.  As a consequence, 
residents may choose not to own a car.  The six car parking spaces proposed for this 
development is therefore considered acceptable.  
 
On the basis of the above, it is not considered that the development would have a 
detrimental impact on highway safety and the free flow of traffic in the area and is 
compliant with the requirements of Policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP.  
 
Bats 
 
The application is accompanied by a bat survey prepared by BE Ecological LTD 
dated September 2017, which identifies a day roost for 3 single common pipistrelle 
bats at the proposed development site.  The report has been examined by Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW) and the Council’s Countryside Officer who have raised no 
objection to the proposal.  Natural Resources Wales have advised that they are of 
the view that the proposed development is likely to give rise to the need for a licence 
application and a condition has been suggested which would require the developer 
to obtain this licence from NRW prior to the commencement of works.  However, 
NRW has concluded that the development is not likely to be detrimental to the 
maintenance of the population of the species concerned.  The imposition of a 

Page 8



condition as suggested by NRW in this case would duplicate controls covered by the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.   
 
Drainage  
 
Concern has been raised by a local resident that the existing drainage system does 
not have sufficient capacity for a development of this size.  Despite these concerns, 
neither Welsh Water nor the Council’s Engineering and Traffic Group Leader have 
objected to the proposed development and in the absence of any substantive 
evidence to the contrary, this claim cannot form any basis for a refusal of planning 
permission.  
 
Other matters raised by residents through the publicity exercise 
 
Concerns have also been raised relating to refuse storage provision for the proposed 
development, or the perceived lack thereof.  It is considered that sufficient refuse 
space has been provided within the site for the storage of bins.  The management of 
this area from an environmental point of view is ultimately a matter for the owners.  
While it is inevitable that refuse bins would need to be located on the pavement on 
collection days, this situation is no different to the arrangement of any other terrace 
house in the area.    Furthermore, the previous use of the site as a hotel/public 
house would most likely have generated a significant amount of commercial waste 
which arguably would have resulted in larger, commercial style bins being stored on 
the public highway.   While the concerns raised in this respect are accepted, this 
issue is not considered to be a reason to refuse planning permission. 
 
Claims that the site could be put to a better use are noted, however, the Committee 
has to consider the proposal the subject of this report and not any alternative 
suggestions.   
 
The concern that the developer did not undertake consultation with existing residents 
is not a material planning consideration.  There is no requirement for pre-application 
consultation to be undertaken with neighbouring residential properties for a 
development of this size (i.e. it is not a major application where such consultation 
must be undertaken by the applicant) 
 
With respect to claims that the development contravenes the Equality Act and the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015, this proposal would allow a substantial, 
vacant building to be brought back into beneficial use for the purpose of housing.  It 
would help to provide housing, in an area which is situated within walking distance to 
local amenities and services as well as public transport.  It is acknowledged that 
local residents have concerns that the proposal will exacerbate highway problems in 
the area and on-street parking is in high demand, however, sufficient weight must be 
given to the planning merits of this scheme and, in particular, that a pubic house 
could have greater impacts on the community in terms of traffic movements, noise 
and disturbance and on-street parking than the flats being proposed.   
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 

Page 9



taken into consideration when determining this application. In this respect, it is noted 
that the Council’s Local Development Plan puts sustainability at its core.  Delivering 
a mix of quality housing through the re-use of vacant buildings or brownfield land, 
within existing settlements, is key.  The ways of working set out at section 5 of the 
WBFG Act have been considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or more of 
the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the 
WBFG Act. 
 
Planning Obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-
2021 consider the requirement for planning obligations and affordable housing 
contributions on all residential schemes.  On proposed residential developments of 
less than 10 units or where it can be demonstrated that on-site provision for 
affordable housing is not possible, the Council will require a financial contribution 
towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere in the corresponding growth 
area of the LDP. 
 
The requirement for an affordable housing contribution towards the proposed 
development has been assessed by the Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation 
Group Leader.  In this instance no planning obligations for the provision of affordable 
housing or any other contributions have been sought as this would likely render the 
development financially unviable. In order to come to this conclusion, an assessment 
has been carried out using the Three Dragons Toolkit. 
 
Conclusion  
 
The determination of this application requires careful judgement of each of the 
issues that the application raises, with particular regard to balancing the merits of 
such a proposal against any harmful impact such a scheme may pose.  Objections 
have been received in relation to the likely impact such a proposal would have on 
general highway safety issues within the locality. While such concerns are 
appreciated, the historic use of the site would have generated significant traffic 
movements and demand for parking spaces (and would again should the building be 
re-opened for A3 planning purposes).  The proposal does cater for some off-road 
parking provision and the broader merits of the scheme, which would bring about the 
re-use of a prominent, locally important building, whilst retaining the building’s 
character, are considered to outweigh any negative impact of the scheme.   It should 
also be noted that two letters of support have also been received. Whilst these 
recognise that there are parking restrictions in the area, they highlight that this is 
characteristic of the housing in the area and that the scheme would provide some 
parking while also providing the community with affordable, much needed housing.   
 
Having taken account of all the issues outlined above, the application is considered 
to be acceptable in planning terms and is in line with local development plan policy 
and the policy framework of Planning Policy Wales.   
 
 
 

Page 10



Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS 
 
  
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
  
 Drawing number 204 R1 - Proposed basement plan received on 18.10.2017 
 Drawing number 201 R2 - Proposed ground floor plan received on 02.11.2017 
 Drawing number 202      - Proposed first floor plan received on 22.09.2017 
 Drawing number 203      - Proposed second floor plan received on 22.09.2017 
 Drawing number 209 R2 - Proposed site plan received on 02.11.2017 
 Drawing number 206 R2 - Proposed front elevation D received on 02.11.2017 
 Drawing number 205 R2 - Proposed side elevation B received on 02.11.2017 
 Drawing number 207 R2 - Proposed rear elevation C received on 02.11.2017 
 Drawing number 208 R2 - Proposed side elevation A received on 02.11.2017 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define 

the scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to the installation of the access gate located in the north-eastern (front) 

boundary, details of the gate to be used shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.   

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed 

development will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining 
buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 4. No flat shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in 

accordance with drawing numbers 204 R1 and 209 for 8 secure cycle stands 
and 6 off-road parking spaces.  The spaces and stands shall thereafter be 
kept available for such purposes in perpetuity.  

  
 Reason - To ensure that vehicles are parked off the highway in the interests 

of road safety in accordance with Policies BW12 and TB11 of the Merthyr 
Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. Bats and their breeding sites and resting places are protected under the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
Where bats are present and a development proposal is likely to contravene 
the legal protection they are afforded, the development may only proceed 
under a licence issued by Natural Resources Wales, having satisfied the three 
requirements set out in the legislation.  For further advise on this matter 
please contact Natural Resouces Wales on 03000 653074. 

 
 2. Surface water from the proposed development should not discharge onto the 

public highway or connect to any highway drainage system. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
            

 
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 15th November 2017 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/17/0283 28th September 2017 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Erection of office building (unit 1) 
and erection of 9 no. industrial 
units (units 2-10) for B1, B2 and 
B8 uses with associated service 
road, parking and service yard 
area 

Land Adjoining (south Of) 
Delacey Builders 
Goat Mill Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3TD 
 

M. Delacey & Sons 
(Holdings) Ltd  
c/o AJ Planning And 
Development 
F.a.o. Mr A Ayles 
22 Meadowlands Close 
Parc Seymour 
CALDICOT    

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an irregular shaped area of brownfield land measuring 
approximately 0.65 of a hectare. The site is situated in a prominent corner location adjacent 
to a roundabout at the southern end of the Goat Mill Road Industrial Estate, on land which 
was made available for development as part of the East Merthyr Phase II reclamation 
scheme. 
 
The site is bound to the north-west by Goat Mill Road, which provides access to nearby 
industrial units on the opposite side of the roundabout and the wider industrial estate to the 
north. Access to the site is via a spur road which extends from the roundabout along the 
south-west and south-east boundaries of the site, where it continues to the north-east to 
serve nearby industrial units. To the north-east, the site is bound by an industrial unit which 
is in the applicant’s ownership. In the wider context, there is vacant land to the south-west 
and south-east, which is allocated in the Local Development Plan for new business and 
employment uses. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the erection of an office building (Unit 1) and 9 
industrial buildings (Units 2-10), which would accommodate a mixture of industrial activities 
i.e. light industrial, general industrial and storage/distribution, within Use Classes B1, B2 
and B8 respectively. The development would also involve the construction of a new service 
road within the site together with associated parking areas and service yards. 
 
The proposed office building and industrial units would be positioned to provide a frontage 
on either side of the new service road, which would cross through the centre of the site from 
east to west. A row of 5 industrial units (Nos. 6-10) would be constructed along the northern 
boundary of the site and two pairs of industrial units (Nos. 2-5) would be constructed on 
either side of the main entrance into the site to the south-east. The office building would be 
constructed in the southern corner of the site. A service yard area would be provided to the 
rear (north-east) of units 4 & 5 and to the side (west) of unit 10, along with enclosed refuse 
storage areas within the site. 
 
The industrial units have been designed so they are all of the same size (261.9sqm 
floorspace) with a modern appearance (some handed) measuring approximately 10.7m 
wide by 18.6m deep and 9m high with a pitched roof. It is noted that each industrial unit 
would also accommodate a mezzanine store and office area. The front elevations would 
incorporate roller shutter doors and glazing to serve lobby areas and first floor offices. The 
proposed external finishes for these units would comprise two metal (powder coated) 
cladding systems applied to the elevations and a metal (powder coated) cladding system to 
the roofs.  
 
The office building (450sqm floorspace) has been designed with a modern appearance and 
would measure 15.6m wide by 15.6m deep and 10.5m high with a flat roof design. The 
building would incorporate large glazed areas and aluminium fin detailing to create 
architectural interest on the north-west and south-west elevations, which provide key 
frontages towards the adjacent highways. In contrast to the industrial units, the external 
materials of this building would largely comprise of brickwork on the elevations with 
cladding applied to a projecting feature.  

Page 14



The proposed service road would link to the main highway serving the site to the south-east 
and would measure 8m wide over a length of approximately 61m, with a vehicle turning 
head provided at the western end. A total of 35 parking spaces would be created within the 
site, comprising at least 2 parking spaces per industrial unit and 18 spaces for the office 
building, of which 11 of these would be disabled parking bays. A new pedestrian entrance 
would be provided into the site from the highway (to the south-west), adjacent to the office 
building. To support sustainable transport, a covered bicycle parking shelter is also 
proposed next to the office building. 
 
Whilst a detailed landscaping scheme has not been submitted with the application, the 
proposed site plan indicates the majority of the existing hedgerows along the boundaries of 
the site would be retained. Additional areas of planting are identified within the site, 
including around the main entrance, adjacent to the western boundary and within the 
parking areas. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There is no relevant planning history. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader   - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

drainage details, structural design, retaining works 
and access. 

 
Planning Division’s 
Policy & Implementation 
Group Leader   - No objections. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Countryside Officer   - No objection subject to a condition relating to  

ecological management. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect  - No objection subject to a condition for the  

submission of a hard and soft landscaping 
scheme. 

 
Environmental Health Manager - No response. 
 
The Coal Authority   - No objection subject to a condition relating to a  

further site investigation. 
 
Welsh Water    - No objection subject to a condition relating to the  

submission of a drainage scheme for the site. 
 
Wales & West Utilities  - No objections. 
 
Western Power Distribution - No response. 

Page 15



PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, three site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site on the 
9th October 2017 and a press notice was placed in a local newspaper on the 12th October 
2017. 
 
No representations were received as a result of this publicity exercise. 
 
POLICYCONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales, Edition 9, November 2016: 
 
Sections 4.11.9 – 4.11.12 sets out the principles of good design in new development 
proposals, which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context. Regard 
should be given to the appropriate scale, appearance, landscaping and quality of building 
design, which should be accessible for all. 
 
Sections 5.5.1 – 5.5.3 notes that the impact a development proposal may have on wildlife 
or the landscape is an important consideration in determining applications. Where ever 
possible adverse effects on the environment should be avoided or acceptably minimised. 
 
Section 7.6.1 highlights the need for local authorities to adopt a positive and constructive 
approach to applications for economic development. Regard should be given to the number 
and types of jobs created, the regeneration/employment opportunities and the contribution 
to the wider spatial strategy. 
 
Section 8.7.1 sets out the criterion that should be considered where transport implications 
may occur, such as impacts on local travel demand, public transport provision, accessibility 
and highway safety. 
 
Section 13.9.1 – 13.9.2 requires the potential instability of land to be carefully considered 
and supported by specialist investigations/assessments, setting out the appropriate 
mitigation measures to overcome instability issues, which can be secured by condition. 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN): 
 

 TAN 5 - Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 12 – Design, March 2016 

 TAN 18 – Transport, March 2007 

 TAN 23 – Economic Development, February 2014 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Local planning policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 Policy BW1 - Development strategy – Primary Growth Area 

 Policy BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 Policy BW5 - Natural heritage 

 Policy BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 Policy BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 Policy BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 Policy AS4 - Historic landscape 

 Policy AS7 - Waste management facilities – locations of choice 

 Policy AS24 - Employment site protection 

 Policy TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG4 - Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG5 - Nature and Development, May 2015 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The site is located within the settlement boundary and the Primary Growth Area as defined 
by the Local Development Plan (LDP), where the majority of new development is 
encouraged and generally supported by policies BW1 and BW4 of the LDP. The site is also 
situated within an employment protection area, where policy AS24 of the LDP seeks to 
protect the employment function of the County Borough. In such areas development 
proposals which fall within Use Classes B1, B2 and B8 are supported. It should also be 
noted that the site lies adjacent to an established industrial estate and is situated opposite 
an area of land which is specifically allocated (E4) for new business and employment 
proposals. Therefore, it is considered that the principle of the development is acceptable 
and the nature of the proposed office and industrial uses would be compatable with the 
existing businesses in the vicinity. 
 
The specific number of jobs to be created by the development is not specified and will 
largely depend on the nature of the businesses that eventually occupy the units. 
Nevertheless, the development of the site would clearly provide an economic benefit, with 
the creation of new facilities that can offer employment opportunities within the County 
Borough and support the existing businesses along Goat Mill Road. 
 
Design 
 
The proposed development would be situated in a prominent position along Goat Mill Road 
where it would be particularly visible (northbound) at the roundabout. In this location the 
development would contribute to the sense of arrival to the industrial estate, reinforcing the 
character of the area and would also relate well with the equally prominent industrial units 
on the opposite side (west) of the highway. The layout of the development has been 

Page 17



informed by the need for the office building and industrial units to relate well with the 
internal service road, whilst providing a suitable frontage towards the main highway. The 
proposed office building, which is of a different design to the industrial units, has also been 
located in the southern part of the site, where it presents a focal point along the spur road 
leading to the main entrance. This building also enables the development to integrate well 
with the vacant land to the south, which is reserved for future employment opportunities. It 
is considered that the proposed layout is acceptable and would enable the development to 
appropriately integrate with its surrounding context. It is noted that the existing industrial 
units along Goat Mill Road generally vary in their scale and design which reflects the variety 
of businesses in the area. It is considered that the general form and scale of the proposed 
office building and industrial units is consistent with other premises in the area. The design 
and appearance of the development is also considered to be appropriate for the site and 
would complement the character/style of the nearby modern units, including those to the 
west of the site. 
 
The existing trees and hedgerows along the boundaries of the site are considered to be an 
important aspect of the green infrastructure of the area. The retention of these features 
enables the development to sensitively integrate with the natural environment and enhance 
the quality of the development. It is noted that additional planting is proposed in keys areas 
of the development i.e. around the main entrance and within the car parking area, which 
contributes to the quality of the development. In this regard, it is noted that the Planning 
Division’s Landscape Architect has not raised an objection to the development, subject to a 
condition setting out the specific planting details. Overall, it is considered that the proposed 
development is of an acceptable design and would not adversely impact on the character of 
the area. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Highways 
 
The application site is already served by an adopted highway, which is a well established 
route for large vehicles and lorries frequenting the Goat Mill Road Industrial Estate. It is 
considered that the existing highway can accommodate the proposed development and that 
there would not be an adverse impact on the free flow of traffic in the area. The proposed 
service road is considered to be of an acceptable design with appropriate turning facilities 
for each unit, including the provision of a turning head, to enable lorries to enter and exit the 
site in a forward gear. Furthermore, suitable visibility splays would be provided at the 
entrance of the site to ensure drivers can view on-coming traffic. The parking provision 
within the site is considered to be sufficient to serve the needs of the office and industrial 
units, with an appropriate amount of disabled parking spaces. Additionally, the proposal 
includes a new pedestrain entrance and bicycle storage facilities to help support more 
sustainable forms of travel. The Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has not highlighted 
any highway safety concerns and as such, has not raised any objection to the development. 
Therefore, the proposal complies with policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Ecology 
 
The application site has been vacant for a considerable period of time, which is evident by 
the rough grassland and overgrown vegetation, particularly along the boundaries. There are 
a number features across the site, which have some potential to accommodate protected 
species and habitats. As such, an Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of 
this application. The report notes that the site has some potential to host reptiles, given the 

Page 18



ground conditions. However, following a survey, no reptiles were recorded. As such, the 
conclusions of the report indicate the site is of limited ecological value and that reptiles are 
unlikely to pose a constraint on the development. It is acknowledged that the Planning 
Division’s Countryside Officer is satisfied with the conclusions reached in the Ecological 
Appraisal and has not raised any objection to the development. Therefore, the proposal 
complies with policy BW5 of the LDP. 
 
Ground conditions 
 
The application site lies within an area identified by The Coal Authority to be at high risk to 
ground stability concerns as a result of past coal mining activities. Therefore, a Mining Risk 
Assessment has been submitted in support of this application. It is concluded in the report 
that there are no records of shallow mine workings underlying the site and although the site 
lies entirely within the bounds of the former ‘Great White Tip’, the site is remote from the 
area excavated. Whilst the report considers the risks to the development are generally low, 
it is recommended that a further intrusive site investigation be carried out to examine the 
ground conditions further and inform the foundation design of the proposed building. It is 
considered that the submitted report provides an adequate assessment of the risks from 
past coal mining activities. In this regard, it is acknowledged that The Coal Authority has not 
raised any objection to the development, subject to a condition relating to further site 
investigation works. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into 
consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, 
the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus 
the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as 
required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
For the above reasons the proposed development is considered to be acceptable and 
would comply with the relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is 
made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 
 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 
  
 Drawing 100 Rev P2 - Proposed Site & Roof Plan 
 Drawing 101 Rev P1 - Site Location Plan 

Page 19



 Drawing 102 Rev P1 - Site Block Plan 
 Drawing 200 Rev P2 - Proposed Ground Floor & Site Plan 
 Drawing 201 Rev P2 - Proposed First Floor Plan 
 Drawing 300 Rev P1 - Proposed Site Cross Sections 
 Drawing 400 Rev P2 - Unit 1 Proposed Elevations 
 Drawing 401 Rev P2 - Unit 2 & 3 Proposed Elevations 
 Drawing 402 Rev P1 - Units 4 & 5 Proposed Elevations 
 Drawing 403-1 Rev P1 - Units 6-10 Proposed Elevations (Sheet 1 of 2) 
 Drawing 403-2 Rev P1 - Units 6-10 Proposed Elevations (Sheet 2 of 2) 
 Drawings 01-04 Rev R0 - Proposed Vehicle Tracking  
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to the construction of the buildings hereby approved details / samples of 

the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed development will 

be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining buildings in the interests of 
visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 4. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal of foul 

and surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby approved and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 5. No development shall take place until a site investigation has been carried out in 

accordance with a methodology first submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The results of the site investigation shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority before any development begins. If any land instability 
issues are found during the site investigation, a report specifying the measures to be 
taken to remediate the site to render it suitable for the development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Remedial 
measures shall be carried out prior to the first beneficial use of the development in 
accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - The site may be unstable and as such in the interests of safety remedial 

measures may need to be carried out. 
  
  
 
 6. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations and 

facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall 

Page 20



be completed in accordance with the approved details before the development 
hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 

of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan . 
  
  
 
 7. All works on site shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations set 

out in Section 4.8 of the Ecological Appraisal (dated August 2017) prepared by 
Richard Tofts Ecology. 

  
 Reason - To protect the natural environment in accordance with Policy BW5 of the 

Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 8. Prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby approved, a plan indicating the 

positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected, 
including the Bi-fold security gate and pedestrian security gate (as indicated on 
drawing 200 Rev P2), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved prior to 
the occupation of the buildings. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in 

accordance with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 9. Prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby approved, details of the boundary 

enclosures to the external storage compounds and refuse storage areas (as 
illustrated on drawing 200 Rev P2), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The external storage compounds and refuse storage 
areas shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in 

accordance with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
10. Outside storage shall only take place in the designated compound areas as indicated 

on Drawing 200 Rev P2 and shall not exceed the height of the boundary enclosures 
approved under condition 9. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy BW7 of the 

Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 
 
11. Prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby approved, details of the covered 

bicycle parking shelter, as illustrated on drawing 200 Rev P2, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The covered bicycle parking 
shelter shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the buildings. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of visual amenity and support sustainable forms of 

transport and to accord with Policies BW7 and BW12 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

Page 21



12. No development shall take place until details of both hard and soft landscape 
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written 
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and 
grass establishment); schedules of plants noting species, plant supply sizes and 
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; an implementation programme 
(including phasing of work where relevant). 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
13. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 

be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of 
the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. The 
hard landscaping scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details prior to any building being occupied. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. The applicant / developer should be aware that when works commence on site a 

'Notification of Initiation of development' form must be completed and submitted to 
the local planning authority. A copy of the form can be found in Schedule 5A of the 
Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure (Wales) 
(Amendment) Order 2016 or can be obtained from the Welsh Government Website. 

  
 As part of this notification of development, a notice is also required to be displayed, 

which confirms the granting of permission of development at, or near the 
development site and should provide a plan indicating the site area of the 
development. The notice to be used is provided in Schedule 5B of the Town & 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure (Wales) (Amendment) 
Order 2016, or can be obtained from the Welsh Government Website. This notice 
should be displayed at all times while the development is being carried out. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 15th November 2017 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/16/0367 02.12.2017 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erection of five dwellings with 
associated landscaping and 
access road, (Phase 1 of 
Planning Permission P/14/0130) 

Land To The North West 
Of Llys Y Fran 
Station Terrace 
Bedlinog 
 

CLC 
19 The Design Office 
Heol Y Deri 
Rhiwbina 
CF14 8UA 

 

 
 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   

APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/17/3180772 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  02nd December 2017 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 15th November 2017 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/17/0004 04.01.2017 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erection of a single wind turbine 
with a hub height of 85m and a 
blade tip height of 126m, with 
associated infrastructure 
including a crane pad and 
electrical housing 

Cwmbargoed Disposal 
Point  
Bogey Road 
Mountain Hare 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4AE 

CleanEarth 
F.a.o. Miss Grace Chan 
Unit 2A Bess Park Road 
Trenant Industrial Estate 
Wadebridge 
Cornwall 
PL27 6HB 

 

 
 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   

APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/17/3176287 

DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  27th
th September 2017 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Caroline Pulley 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 15th November 2017 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/17/0172 09.06.2017 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Change of use of land to 
residential curtilage and 
erection of a shed and a 
kennel/aviary (Retrospective) 
 

1 Ael-y-Bryn 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6BA 

Mr David Rees 
1 Ael-y-Bryn 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6BA 

 

 
 
 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/17/3187290 

DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  19th October 2017 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 15th November 2017 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/17/0211 24.07.2017 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erection of dwelling and 
outbuilding 

Land Opposite Valley 
View 
Mountain Hare 
Penheolferthyr 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 

Mr K J Lloyd 
49 Coed Y Pia 
Llanbradach 
Caerphilly 
CF83 3PT 

 

 
 
 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   

APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/17/3186977 

DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  18th October 2017 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 

 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1 SEPTEMBER – 31 OCTOBER 2017 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0164 Land Adjoining 96 
Church Street 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9HS 
 

Erection of two pairs of 
semi-detached dwellings 

Full Approval 15/09/2017 

P/17/0181 Old Town Hall 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AE 
 

Rectification of damp and water 
ingress to bay and dormer windows 
and to chimneys 

Listed Building 
Approval 

20/10/2017 

P/17/0192 Land At Maesynant 
Grove Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construction of private drive and 
culverting of existing stream 

Full Approval 29/09/2017 

P/17/0195 Land Adjacent To 
Alhamdra 
Heol-Y-Mynydd 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NQ 
 

Proposed detached dwelling Full Approval 25/09/2017 

P/17/0200 81 Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QJ 
 

Front porch extension, rear single 
storey extension and other external 
alterations to the property 

Full Approval 18/09/2017 

P/17/0201 Bethesda Brasserie  
Bethesda Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8LR 

Change of use of former Brasserie to 
8 No residential flats with associated 
external works and erection of new 
bollards on adjoining highway 
 

Full Approval 12/10/2017 

  

DATE WRITTEN 2nd November 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 15th November 2017 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0209 1 Garth Cottages 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0EX 
 

Demolition of existing single storey 
rear annexe and erection of single 
storey rear extension with terrace 
above 
 

Full Approval 04/10/2017 

P/17/0210 Land At 
Cwmbargoed  
Fochriw Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4AE 
 

Provision of a spare parts container 
for use in connection with a solar 
farm approved under application 
P/15/0169 

Full Approval 15/09/2017 

P/17/0211 Land Opposite 
Valley View 
Mountain Hare 
Penheolferthyr 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of dwelling and outbuilding Refusal 15/09/2017 

P/17/0212 Access To 
Brynhyfryd House 
Off Cloth Hall Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of gabion basket retaining 
wall and re-surfacing of existing 
vehicular access 

Full Approval 14/09/2017 

P/17/0213 Brynhyfryd House 
Cilsanws Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NU 
 

Construction of a two storey side 
extension and front porch.  
Creation of an off road parking area 
and retaining works to garden 

Full Approval 11/09/2017 

P/17/0219 27 The Hawthorns 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EJ 
 

Proposed two storey side extension Full Approval 11/09/2017 

P/17/0220 62 Brecon Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8NN 
 

Change of use from A1 (Retail) to A2 
(Financial and Professional Services) 

Full Approval 11/09/2017 

  

Page 32



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0224 McDonald's 
Unit A 
Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HY 
 

Erection of new fascia signs to 
restaurant elevations 

Advertisement 
Approval 

12/09/2017 

P/17/0225 McDonald's 
Unit A 
Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HY 
 

Reconfiguration of the drive thru 
lane, introduction of new island and 
customer order displays and 
associated canopies extensions and 
alterations to restaurant 

Full Approval 12/09/2017 

P/17/0228 28 Gersanws 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NS 
 

Create hardstanding to the front to 
include erection of retaining wall 

Full Approval 22/09/2017 

P/17/0229 Linde Industrial 
Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4LA 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/15/0130 to 
enable the test track and northern 
acoustic bund to be repositioned 
along with the associated test track 
facilities 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

29/09/2017 

P/17/0230 Land Opposite 1-4 
Caradoc Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Land opposite 1-4 Caradoc Street, 
The Quar Renewal of planning 
permission P/15/0108 for the 
erection of a pair of semi detached 
dwelling 
 

Outline 
Approval 

22/09/2017 

P/17/0231 McDonald's 
Unit A 
Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HY 
 

New signage for the reconfiguration 
of side by side ordering at drive thru 
and new free standing sign 

Advertisement 
Approval 

12/09/2017 

 

 

Page 33



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0232 1 Gwladys Street 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2AT 

Extend existing garage, erect new 
timber fence above stone wall to 
side and rear and new timber gate to 
rear (Retrospective) 
 

Full Approval 19/09/2017 

P/17/0233 Shanida 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HR 
 

Demolish existing bungalow and 
construct a new two storey dwelling 
with carport 

Full Approval 29/09/2017 

P/17/0234 19 Church Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0AY 

Change of use at 1st floor and 2nd 
floor from residential use to provide 
two studio flats (one at 1st floor and 
one at 2nd floor) to include 
balustrade to enclose a flat roof and 
an access staircase to the rear 
 

Full Approval 22/09/2017 

P/17/0235 Thomson 
124 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8BL 
 

New signage scheme Advertisement 
Approval 

02/10/2017 

P/17/0236 Former Sandbrook 
Day Centre (Plot 5) 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ES 
 

Detached dwelling Full Approval 19/09/2017 

P/17/0237 48 Nightingale 
Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1EJ 
 

Demolition of existing extension  
and construction of a two storey and 
single storey rear extension 

Full Approval 02/10/2017 

P/17/0238 Unit 1A  
Cyfarthfa Industrial 
Estate 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PE 
 

Change of use to indoor car sales Full Approval 24/10/2017 

P/17/0240 11 Ceredig Street 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Single storey rear extension (to 
include change of use to a section of 
land to residential use) 

Full Approval 26/09/2017 

Page 34



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0241 11 Caernarvon 
Grove 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JS 
 

Change of use of land adjoining 
number 11 Caernarvon Grove into 
garden (Retrospective) 

Full Approval 26/09/2017 

P/17/0242 57 - 59 Bridge 
Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4JU 
 

Change of use from Post Office (A1) 
to a shop (A1) and a pottery 
workshop (B1), including alterations 
to shop front 

Full Approval 12/10/2017 

P/17/0244 Land Adjoining  
Unit D Triangle 
Business Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TQ 
 

Erection of single storey retail pod 
(use class A1) with associated 
hardstanding, car parking and 
ancillary works 

Full Approval 17/10/2017 

P/17/0246 Grass Verge At 
Junction Of Bryniau 
Road And The 
Main Road Through 
Pant Industrial 
Estate 
And The Grass 
Verge To The South 
Of Just Carpets, 
Adjacent  
To The Main Road 
Through Pant 
Industrial Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erect two freestanding directional 
signs (Retrospective) 

Refusal 
(Advertisement) 

02/10/2017 

P/17/0248 10 Archer Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4JQ 
 

Erection of single storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 25/09/2017 

  

Page 35



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0249 11 Harlech Drive 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JU 
 

Demolition of existing single storey 
side annexe / garage and erection of 
two storey side extension 

Full Approval 25/09/2017 

P/17/0252 14 Lower High 
Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EB 
 

Installation of ATM to the front of 
the premises (Retrospective) 

Full Approval 29/09/2017 

P/17/0253 14 Lower High 
Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EB 
 

ATM advertisement (Retrospective) Advertisement 
Approval 

29/09/2017 

P/17/0255 Wall House 
Pontsarn Road 
Pontsarn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TR 
 

Two storey extension Full Approval 23/10/2017 

P/17/0256 23 Anthony Hill 
Court 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4AZ 
 

First floor side extension Full Approval 06/10/2017 

P/17/0257 Gurnos Community 
Centre  
Spruce Tree Grove 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9AU 
 

Increasing height of fencing from 2m 
to 3.6m 

Full Approval 29/09/2017 

P/17/0259 29 Brecon Rise 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2BW 

Pitched roof to front porch, 
demolish garage, utility room and 
conservatory and construct a two 
storey side and rear extension 
 

Full Approval 18/10/2017 

  

Page 36



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0260 35 Haydn Terrace 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9YJ 
 

Single storey rear extension, two 
storey side extension and a 
detached garage to the rear of the 
property with decking area above 
 

Full Approval 27/10/2017 

P/17/0261 3 Cwrt Bevan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0AQ 
 

Erection of single storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 18/10/2017 

P/17/0262 Parcel Of Land 
Within Former 
Bethesda Brasserie 
Bethesda Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of advertisement hoarding Refusal 18/10/2017 

P/17/0263 6 George Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6RT 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/17/0122 to 
increase width of two storey rear 
extension 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

19/09/2017 

P/17/0264 5 George Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6RT 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/17/0063 to 
increase the width of the two storey 
rear extension 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

19/09/2017 

P/17/0265 Former Sandbrook 
Day Centre (Plot 11) 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ES 
 

New dwelling Full Approval 13/10/2017 

P/17/0270 30 Oaklands 
Henry Richard 
Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4LP 
 

Two storey and single storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 20/10/2017 

P/17/0271 34 Dan-Y-Parc View 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GF 
 

Conversion of existing garage into 
living accommodation and erection 
of single storey rear extension 

Full Approval 18/10/2017 

  

Page 37



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0273 20 Llewellyn Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8SR 
 

Retention and completion of front 
bay window and canopy 

Full Approval 23/10/2017 

P/17/0274 Unit 23 
Pant Industrial 
Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SR 
 

Overcladding of external walls and 
roof and insertion of new roof lights 

Full Approval 25/10/2017 

P/17/0275 17 Greenfield 
Gardens 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4BQ 
 

Single storey extension Full Approval 26/10/2017 

P/17/0279 30 The Hawthorns 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EJ 
 

Two storey side extension Full Approval 27/10/2017 

P/17/0280 30 / 30A Thomas 
Street 
Treharris 
CF46 5LG 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/17/0084 for 
alteration to windows 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

04/10/2017 

P/17/0298 St Davids Parish 
Church 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0BA 
 

Fell conifer and lift the crown of 2 
Yew trees, 1 Weeping Ash and 1 
Cypress 

Tree Works 
Approval 

23/10/2017 

P/17/0299 Prince Charles 
Hospital  
Gurnos Road 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9DT 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning application P/15/0414 to 
omit roof cowls and erect two 
louvres 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

24/10/2017 

 

Page 38


	Agenda
	3 P/17/0276 - Bontnewydd Hotel, High Street, Trelewis, Treharris, CF46 6AB
	4 P/17/0283 - Land Adjoining (south Of) Delacey Builders, Goat Mill Road, Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 3TD
	5 P/16/0367 - Appeal Received
	6 P/17/0004 - Appeal Received
	7 P/17/0172 - Appeal Received
	8 P/17/0211 - Appeal Received
	9 Delegated Report

